
See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/325533194

Parental Alienation Syndrome in American Law

Chapter · June 2006

CITATION

1
READS

302

1 author:

Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

The Litigators Handbook of Forensic Medicine, Psychiatry and Psychology View project

Demosthenes Lorandos

PsychLaw.net, PLLC

42 PUBLICATIONS   70 CITATIONS   

SEE PROFILE

All content following this page was uploaded by Demosthenes Lorandos on 10 June 2018.

The user has requested enhancement of the downloaded file.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/325533194_Parental_Alienation_Syndrome_in_American_Law?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_2&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/325533194_Parental_Alienation_Syndrome_in_American_Law?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_3&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/project/The-Litigators-Handbook-of-Forensic-Medicine-Psychiatry-and-Psychology?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_9&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_1&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Demosthenes_Lorandos?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_4&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Demosthenes_Lorandos?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_5&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Demosthenes_Lorandos?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_7&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Demosthenes_Lorandos?enrichId=rgreq-a344ed03565600637c6b5a6774e112c8-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMyNTUzMzE5NDtBUzo2MzYxMDM1NDc3MDczOTJAMTUyODY3MDMxMjA5Mw%3D%3D&el=1_x_10&_esc=publicationCoverPdf


Parental Alienation Syndrome in American Law DRAFT     1 

 

Lorandos, D. (2006). Parental Alienation Syndrome in American Law. In Richard Gardner, S. Richard Sauber, and 
Demosthenes Lorandos (Eds.), The International Handbook of Parental Alienation Syndrome: Conceptual, Clinical 
and Legal Considerations (pp. 333-351). Springfield, Illinois: Charles C. Thomas Publisher, Ltd. 

Chapter 26 

PARENTAL ALIENATION SYNDROME 

IN AMERICAN LAW 

DEMOSTHENES LORANDOS 

OVERVIEW 

This article describes the history of parental alienation syndrome [PAS] in American case law. Fifteen years of cases from 

1987 through 2003 are described with illustrations from the public record. Special attention is given to the use and abuse 

of expert testimony from behavioral sciences professionals. Material cited by trial or appellate courts that was produced 

by PAS “detractors” is cited as a cross reference to the chapter, Parental Alienation Syndrome: Detractors and the Junk 

Science Vacuum, of this work, which analyzes three specific examples of articles written by these detractors.

 

 

I wish either my father or my mother, or indeed both of them, 

as they were in duty both equally bound to it, had minded 

what they were about when they begot me. 

Laurence Sterne, Tristram Shandy 

here is no doubt that in the difficult context of child 

custody battles, parents occasionally resort to 

outrageous acts of interpersonal sabotage. Every 

experienced family court judge and child custody 

practitioner can testify to examples of parental manip-

ulation. Parental campaigns to distance children from 

another parent have been reported in the literature of 

psychology and law for decades.1 The most common 

heuristic in this regard is PAS, first reported by psy-

chiatrist Richard Gardner in 1985.2 

Cases describing PAS can be found in 15 years of 

American jurisprudence.3 Reported decisions describing 

the quagmire of polarized child custody and parental 

alienation processes run the gamut from the sublime to the 

ridiculous. This review focuses on exemplary cases from 

1987 through 2003. The material has been gleaned from 

the public record. 

FIFTEEN YEARS OF PAS IN 
AMERICAN COURTS 

A Failure Of Proof 

In Coursey v. Superior Court (1987), a trial judge in 

the foothills of the California mountains found Loretta 

Coursey in contempt of court when Gene and Loretta 

Coursey’s 14-year-old daughter refused to visit her dad 

following a divorce. After a hearing, the trial court found 

Loretta in contempt for willfully violating the terms of a 

stipulated order. The trial court fined Loretta $500 and 

committed her to five days in jail. The trial court 

concluded: 

“In summary, Loretta Coursey was aware of the order. 

She had agreed to the order, otherwise there would not 

have been an order on October 31. She complied with the 

order on two occasions prior to November 9th. Then her 

attorney advised Gene Coursey’s attorney that there 

would be no visitation on November 9th. There were no 

other explanations provided that I’m aware of. Specifi-

cally, there was no indication that there was physical in-

T 
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capacity as far as [the child] was concerned. The only in-

dication was mental or emotional disinclination.”4 

When Loretta Coursey appealed the decision, the 

California Court of Appeals for the Third District con-

cluded that: 

“No evidence of Loretta’s ability to compel her daugh-

ter’s visitation was adduced at the hearing. As noted, 

Loretta’s guilt was established on the testimony of Gene 

and Loretta’s attorney. However, neither witness 

addressed the issue of Loretta’s ability to control her 

daughter. ... In these circumstances, absent additional 

evidence, it cannot be fairly inferred that the failure of 

visitation was caused by the mother’s willful violation of 

the visitation order.”5 

In this first reported PAS case, the proofs failed when 

the alienated parent could not prove the acts or intent of 

the alienating parent. 

A Constitutional Right to Be Nasty 

In 1988, the Florida Court of Appeals described what 

seemed to be Laurel Schutz’s argument that she had a 

constitutional right to be nasty.6 Writing for the Appeals 

Court, Judge Schwartz described Laurel Schutz’s 

“assiduous and unfortunately largely successful efforts 

both to secrete physically the parties’ two daughters from 

their father and to poison their hearts and minds against 

him. . . . On ample evidence, the trial court found: ‘. . . 

having observed the demeanor of the witnesses, having 

listened to the nuances of the testimony, having exam-

ined the exhibits and the pleadings, the Court has no 

doubt — not a reasonable one, not even an unreasonable 

one, or even a scintilla, shadow or peradventure of doubt 

— that the cause of the blind, brainwashed, bigoted bel-

ligerence of the children toward the Father grew from the 

soil nurtured, watered and tilled by the Mother. The 

Court is thoroughly convinced that the Mother breached 

every duty she owed as the custodial parent to the non-

custodial parent of instilling love, respect and feeling in 

the children for their Father. Worse, she slowly dripped 

poison into the minds of these children, maybe even 

beyond the power of the Court to find the antidote. But 

the Court will try.”7 

The trial court ordered Ms. Schutz to “do everything in 

her power to create in the minds of [the children] a loving, 

caring feeling toward the Father.”8 Ms. Schutz appealed, 

citing an impingement on her rights to free speech.9 Citing 

to Gardner and a variety of cases from around the country, 

the Court of Appeals labeled Ms. Schutz’s argument of a 

constitutional right to her invective “baseless.” Not to be 

deterred in her mission, 

Ms. Schutz appealed to the Florida Supreme Court.10 After 

the expenditure of thousands of dollars, the Florida 

Supreme Court affirmed the appeals and trial courts, 

holding that in view of the circumstances “any burden on 

the mother’s first amendment rights is merely 

‘incidental.’”11 

A Resolution In Counseling 

In the next reported case addressing PAS, Gardner 

was appointed an independent and impartial examiner for 

“A.R.” and “S.E.” in New York. Gardner reported a mild 

degree of parental alienation but recommended the 

children stay with their mother.12 A number of post 

evaluation difficulties arose, and the plaintiff called 

numerous fathers’ rights advocates to testify. Following a 

great deal of psychiatric and psychological testimony, the 

trial court refused to transfer custody and ordered both 

parents to counseling. The court ordered “the therapist to 

immediately communicate with the Court if the therapist 

is of the opinion that any of the participants is not fully 

cooperating with the therapeutic treatment plan.”13 

The Case Of The Murder’s Mom 

When Violetta B. was four months old, her parents 

murdered her four-year-old sister.14 Placed in foster care, 

Violetta flourished. When she was two years old, her 

paternal grandmother sought physical custody. The trial 

court appointed a family therapist to supervise visits and 

make a report. He testified that the child seemed to enjoy 

the visits with her grandmother, but was very happy and 

anxious to return to her foster mother. He further testified 

he was directing all of his efforts toward placing the child 

with the grand- mother.15 The trial court then made the 

grandmother the child’s private guardian and custodian. 

Through her guardian ad litem, the child requested a 

“bonding assessment,” and the court appointed a 

psychologist.16 Proofs at a hearing demonstrated that after 

the family therapist recommended that the grandmother 

tell the child that she wanted her to stay with her, 

separation from the foster mother became increasingly 

stressful.17 At a follow-up hearing, a psychologist stated 

that the child and the foster mother had a very strong 

primary bond. She described the primary bond as a 

relationship the child used to determine both her security 

and also a sense of what is right. The psychologist also 

testified that disruption of the child’s primary relationship 

dramatically affected the child’s ability to trust. She 

opined that the child would be unlikely to form deep 

sustaining relationships with others because the risk of 

losing such a relationship was too painful. She went on to 

characterize PAS by offering that as the transitions be-

tween the two homes were becoming more difficult, the 

child became depressed, combative and aggressive.18 

Although the appellate court mischaracterized the 

psychologist’s credentials several times,19 it relied heavily 

on her testimony: 
The primary basis for [the psychologist’s] opinion, how-

ever, was her belief that given the strong primary bond 

between [the child] and [the foster mother], a transfer of 

custody would be extremely deleterious to [the child] 

psychologically and would cause her to suffer severe and 

irreparable trauma. [The psychologist] testified that, in 

her opinion, counseling would not serve to alleviate the 
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trauma.20 

The appellate court’s reliance on its reevaluation of 

the record found the trial court’s order of custody with the 

grandmother reversed on the great weight of the 

evidence.21 

Medea’s Selfish Goal 

In a decision as eloquent as trial judge Richard Yale 

Feder’s in Schutz v. Schutz,22 New York family court 

judge David F. Jung got it all right in Karen B. v. Clyde 

M.23 This case involved spurious allegations of child 

sexual abuse and the trial judge’s extensive efforts to find 

the facts. 

In September of 1990, a four-year-old girl allegedly 

told her mother that she had been sexually abused by her 

father. Mom told a friend of hers, and this friend 

interviewed the girl at home.24 When the friend called the 

Department of Social Services “hotline,” a social worker 

investigated the complaint. In now her third interview 

with a concerned adult, the little girl recounted a story 

about her father and sexual abuse.25 Following her story, 

the DSS social worker referred the girl to a local 

validator.26 This particular validator was a master’s level 

psychologist, under contract with the DSS. According to 

her testimony, she “interviewed approximately two 

hundred children concerning allegations of sexual abuse 

and has validated seventy-five percent of them.”27 

In a statement that was unusual for a validator,28 she 

testified that the mother seemed to be repeating the story 

by rote. When asked what she meant by the term “rote,” 

she testified that the mother had to start from the 

beginning and repeat the whole story each time. She could 

not respond to questions without starting from the 

beginning and completing the entire story.29 In her 

interviews with the child, the validator used some of the 

most ill-advised and suggestible techniques imaginable.30 

Still, she noted that no “sex-play” occurred during her 

interviews and the child repeatedly told her she was 

“making believe.”31 She went on to testify that, in her 

judgment, the mother had a “vested interest in the 

outcome of the case.”32 Judge Jung then took the 

testimony of the child’s pediatrician, who had examined 

and interviewed the child.33 The pediatrician testified that 

the mother brought the young girl to him for an 

examination, and that his physical examination of the 

child revealed nothing. He specifically testified that the 

child denied to him that anything had happened.34 After 

collating all of this data, the Department of Social 

Services concluded that the mother’s allegation was 

unfounded.35 

Not to be denied, the mother waited five months, and 

started the whole process up again.36 This time, another 

worker was assigned; this person also interviewed the 

little girl. By the time she was interviewed by the sixth 

concerned adult, she had developed a story about an 

“electric dinkie.”37 Mom found a polygra- pher, who was 

the next person in line to interact with her and her 

daughter. Despite the fact that the polyg- rapher admitted 

he had never attempted a validation process with a young 

child, the “electric dinkie” story seemed to have an impact 

on him, as he testified that he thought the girl had been 

abused.38 On cross-examination, the polygrapher stated 

that he was familiar with the Sexual Allegations in 

Divorce (SAID) Syndrome which describes increased 

numbers of false allegations when the factors he admitted 

to are present.39 

The trial judge took the testimony of the girl’s 

preschool teacher, a probation officer, and a certified 

social worker in the mental health clinic, none of whom 

observed any fear of the father by the child.40 Following a 

review of a lengthy law guardian report, the trial judge 

made the following findings: 

1. The trained validator conducted numerous in-

terviews with the child and “concluded no abuse 

had taken place”;41 

2. When reading the polygrapher’s report, the 

validator testified that the statements the child 

reportedly made to the polygrapher were “an 

almost exact verbatim statement to her” from the 

mother;42 

3. The polygrapher who got the “electric dinkie” 

story “only had one interview with the child 

which occurred many months after the alleged 

incident or incidents;”43 

4. “When asked to provide details, the youngster is 

either unable to do so or creates a scenario for the 

purposes of the interview. However, in 

subsequent interviews a different scenario may 

be presented.”44 

5. The child’s “descriptions of sexual activity be-

tween herself and her father vary considerably 

depending upon whether she was talking to” this 

adult interviewer or that adult interviewer.45 

6. “There was no credible testimony to suggest that 

the child was afraid of her father and in fact the 

testimony suggested a relaxed and warm 

relationship.”46 

7. “There was no testimony to suggest that [the girl] 

had any awareness of her sexuality or had become 

involved in any sexual activity.”47 

8. “None of the adults to whom [the girl] made 

disclosures could conclude with any certainty that 

[she] was describing one or more than one 

experience.”48 

9. “[The] Court had the unique opportunity of 

observing the demeanor of all witnesses who 

appeared before it and concludes that the testi-

mony of the father is more credible than that of 

the mother.”49 

10. The court agreed with the validator and the 

child’s law guardian “that it is likely that the 

mother programmed her daughter to accuse the 
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father of sexually abusing the child so that she 

could obtain sole custody and control or even 

preclude any contact that the father might have 

with his daughter.”50 

Rather eloquently, Judge Jung concluded: “In the 

opinion of this Court, any parent that would denigrate the 

other by casting the false aspersion of child sex abuse and 

involving the child as an instrument to achieve his or her 

selfish purpose is not fit to continue in the role of a parent. 

. . . Like Medea, she is ready to sacrifice her child to 

accomplish her selfish goal.”51 

“Toto” Annihilation 

In Toto v. Toto,52 the parties really taxed the Ohio 

Court of Appeals’ demonstrated orientation to boiler-

plate.53 As the court noted, post decree litigation began in 

1984 with the first of 132 motions. Dad filed 75 motions 

and Mom filed 57 motions. Additional motions were filed 

by three different guardians ad litem.54 It seems the 

annihilation process began because, although the parties 

entered an agreement whereby they were to consult on all 

major decisions affecting the children’s welfare, and any 

disputes were to be resolved by mediation, the father was 

granted veto power over any mediation decisions. In 

effect, he was given authority to impose his own solutions 

at will.55 

Over the course of six years of litigation, the trial 

court appointed three guardian ad litems, two at the 

father’s request and one on its own motion. Each guardian 

ad litem stressed the importance of re-establishing 

visitation between the dad and his children, but found that 

the visitation and companionship problems were the fault 

of the father, not the mother or children. During an 

interview with the children, the trial court learned that 

they loved their father, but could not cope with his erratic 

behavior toward them. 

According to the GALs and the trial court, the dad had 

repeatedly terminated visitation, at will. The court 

concluded that there was no evidence in the record to 

support the father’s claim that the mother was brain-

washing the children. The appellate record indicates that 

seven psychologists evaluated the parties and their 

children. They determined that the father loved his 

children and they loved their father, but that the protracted 

litigation had a detrimental effect on everyone. The 

psychologists found that the children suffered from PAS, 

which was further compounded by the parties’ inability to 

communicate. 

Ultimately, the trial court entered orders, assessing 

well over $100,000 in attorney fees and restricting vis-

itation. Everyone appealed. The county Court of Appeals 

rubber-stamped the trial court with page after page of 

boilerplate and concluded: “All of the psychologists and 

guardians ad litem gave credible testimony which stressed 

the need for visitation. However, as a result of Appellant’s 

“erratic” behavior in exercising his visitation, and the 

resulting psychological problems of the children, it is both 

just and reasonable for the trial court to limit visitation to 

a specific schedule.”56 

The Tree Climbers 

In Wiederholt v. Fischer,51 the father petitioned a Wis-

consin trial court for a change in custody of his children. 

He alleged that their mother was fomenting PAS. The trial 

court noted that when the dad attempted visitation with his 

three girls, they “would run away and climb trees when he 

came to pick them up.”58 Numerous motions were filed 

dealing with “accusations involving what the parties told 

the children, whether photographs could be taken of the 

children, problems with the pick-up and drop-off time and 

locations, problems with telephone contact, and issues 

over the children’s clothes and toys.”59 Finally, the father 

petitioned the trial court to change custody. 

At a three-day hearing, the trial court took the tes-

timony of a local psychologist. The court noted that he 

was well respected and that the court respected his 

opinions.60 He testified that: “Parental Alienation Syn-

drome’ can be one of four types: (1) one parent actively 

brainwashing or manipulating the feelings of a child 

concerning the other parent, (2) one parent unconsciously 

rewarding a child for turning his or her affections away 

from the other parent, (3) a child alienating himself or 

herself on the basis of fear of loss of love, and (4) a child 

alienating himself or herself because of certain situational 

factors.”61 The psychologist then testified that the children 

were suffering from the severe form of the syndrome and 

that it was “one of the worst cases I’ve ever seen in doing 

this kind of work.”62 His testimony indicated that the 

proposed cure was controversial, and that research data to 

support the success of transferring the children to the 

“hated” parent was limited. The court concluded that the 

evidence was not strong enough that the alienation would 

be cured by placing the children with their father.63 The 

court left things as they were, out on a limb. 

The appellate court opined inter alia: “Based on the 

weighing of all the evidence, the court found that the cure 

proposed by [the father] was not better than the current 

primary placement with [the mother]. The court found that 

the psychological impact on the children is risky and 

uncertain. These findings are not clearly erroneous.”64 

Parental Alienation As A Defense: 
Bite Marks In Nevada 

Three young children were placed with the dad fol-

lowing a divorce. According to the record, the parties 

fought over custody of the kids for years.65 When the 

mom petitioned to change custody, she asked for a court-

appointed special advocate (CASA) to investigate al-

legations of physical abuse. 

In a hearing during which three experts testified, the 
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CASA reported that the children claimed they were being 

left unsupervised with their dad’s daughter from a 

previous marriage. This was determined to be a clear 

violation of a prior court order. Each child also claimed 

that this daughter was physically abusive on several 

occasions. The father brought an expert who testified that 

the children suffered from PAS, developed by the 

children’s mother. The dad further claimed that because of 

this PAS, the CASA “was duped by the three children, 

and thus, the CASA’s testimony was skewed” in favor of 

the mother.66 

The mother enlisted the aid of an expert, who agreed 

with the CASA. Both the mother’s expert and the CASA 

recommended a change of custody to her. According to 

the appellate court, the scales were tipped “by the severe 

bite mark inflicted on the litigants’ son” while in the dad’s 

care.67 

The Doctors’ Case 

In In re Marriage of Rosenfeld,6 an Iowa trial and ap-

pellate court took exactly the action the Wisconsin trial 

court refused in Wiederholt v. Fischer69 two years before. 

In Rosenfeld, the couple, both doctors of osteopathy, were 

divorced in December, 1990. Physical care of the children 

was awarded to the father. As a part of its findings in 

making the physical care determination, the trial court 

noted that the mother suffered migraine headaches and 

was addicted to her medication, and had attempted to 

alienate the children from her ex-husband. Two years 

later, the mother moved the court to change custody. 

During an eighteen-day hearing, she brought an expert 

who testified extensively about PAS. The trial court found 

that the father had attempted to alienate the children from 

his ex-wife and that her “drug addiction” was traced to a 

food allergy; that she had overcome this and succeeded in 

establishing a successful medical practice. The trial court 

granted the mother physical care. The father appealed. 

According to the trial court: 

Two material changes in circumstances have occurred 

since the decree. At that time, [the mother] had a warm 

and loving reciprocated relationship with her children 

then ages nine and three. The relationship now cannot be 

expressed as mutual. [She] continues trying to be their 

mother and is devoted to them, but the conduct of the 

children toward their mother is appalling. . . . These chil-

dren have been turned against [their mother] and it has 

happened by conduct from [the father’s} household. The 

only way this most unfortunate situation can be corrected 

is to place the children in the primary physical care of 
[the mother].70 

The trial court found that this was a case of PAS in-

volving both children, and that it was severe.71 By way of 

illustration, the court cited to two incidents, both of which 

involved the father’s new wife. 

The first involved the prior fourth of July weekend. 

[Mother] asked to trade holidays because she had to work 

a sixty-hour weekend. [Father] refused to change the 

holiday schedule and, although he knew [Mother] was 

working, he got [the four-year-old son] up to get ready 

for his mother’s visitation and let him sit for two hours 

with his bag by the window watching for his mother who 

did not come. When she did not come on Monday, the 

same scene was reenacted. . . . The second was an 

attempt to charge [Mother] or someone who cared for 

[the four-year-old son] under [her] direction with 

sexually molesting or abusing him. [The new wife] took 

[the four-year-old] to doctors four times on two separate 

occasions with her complaints. All medical opinions 

refuted [her] claims but [she] told others about them, 

including their Rabbi, and she made her complaints in 

front of [the four-year-old son].72 

In reaching its conclusions, the trial court noted 

considerable animosity between the father’s new wife, 

and his ex-wife. The appellate panel specifically found, as 

did the trial court, that his new wife “contributed 

substantially to the discord.”73 

On appeal, the father attacked the validity of PAS and 

the testimony of his ex-wife’s expert. The appellate panel 

side stepped the issue, and re-focused on the parties’ 

behavior: 
We do not pass upon the issue of whether parental alien-

ation syndrome is a reliable theory. Rather, we look at 

the evidence induced and draw our own conclusion. . . . 

Our major concern focuses on [the new wife]. . . . She 

has been manipulative, forbidding [the four-year-old son] 

to talk to his mother at school and church functions. The 

trial court in its findings noted the fact [she] had alien-

ated her three children from a prior marriage from their 

father after she divorced him.74 

Angry and Violent PAS in Indiana 

In 1993, an Indiana woman filed a divorce petition 

against her husband and asked for sole custody of their 

two minor children. Before the trial court heard the case, 

she filed objections to the psychologist her husband 

wanted to use “and instead requested that the parties 

utilize the services of a specific person.”75 When the trial 

court took testimony the following year, witnesses 

testified that the mother was hostile and violent and had, 

on at least one occasion, kicked her minor son.76 When the 

clinical psychologist she had insisted upon took the stand, 

he testified that: 
it would be in the best interests of the children for the 

trial court to award sole custody of the children to 

[father] because [mother] was engaging in a pattern of 

behavior known as parental alienation syndrome, a series 

of actions and ‘maneuvers’ by which she would attempt 

to exclude [father] and to denigrate him in the eyes of the 

children. [The psychologist] also stated that [she] dis-

played excessive anger and hostility toward [father].77 

The mother responded by asserting that she had to put the 

ten-year-old boy on the stand to rebut the expert and the 

witnesses who testified they saw her kick the boy. The 
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trial court refused to subject the child to the process and 

the Court of Appeals affirmed.78 

Insults and Obsessions in Florida 

After a Florida couple was divorced, the husband’s 

visitation with the children became vexatious.79 When he 

petitioned to change custody due to PAS, the trial court 

undertook a six-day trial. The trial court first noted that 

there were “allegations that the parents insulted each other 

and displayed ill-will toward each other in front of the 

children”80 

In a basic litigator’s sense of what PAS is, the ap-

pellate court noted the following: 

During the six-day trial, the court heard testimony from 

lay and expert witnesses, including a psychiatrist and two 

psychologists, examined exhibits, and observed the be-

havior of the parties. . . . There was testimony that the 

former wife would create a scene when the former hus-

band tried to exercise visitation, and that when the chil-

dren were with the former husband she would telephone 

them constantly and cry. . . . The former wife . . . inten-

tionally or inadvertently communicated to the children 

her intense dislike of the former husband to the extent 

that it affected their emotional well-being and their rela-

tionship with the former husband. There was also evi-

dence that the former wife was obsessed with making 

shared parenting as difficult as possible for the former 

husband, that she made questionable parenting decisions, 

and that her behavior was damaging to the children.81 

As the Rosenfeld82 court did in Iowa, the Florida trial 

and appellate courts dealt with a serious PAS case by 

changing custody to the alienated parent. 

It is important to note that the PAS is not gender 

specific. In another Florida PAS case of insults and 

obsessions the same year, the court in Williams v. 

Williams83 took custody from an alienating father and 

vested it in the alienated mother. 

The “Big Time Trouble” Case 

In Hanson v. Spolnik84 a special judge found a mother 

in contempt of a restraining order, awarded sole custody 

to the father, restricted the mother’s visitation rights, and 

awarded attorney fees to the father.85 

In this matter, the mother and father’s marriage was 

dissolved in 1995. Pursuant to the parties’ dissolution 

agreement, the trial court awarded them joint legal and 

physical custody of their four-year-old daughter. Under 

the terms of the agreement, the father retained custody of 

the child for three days per week and the mother had 

custody for four days per week. In addition, all major 

decisions regarding the child’s care - including education, 

extracurricular activities and medical treatment - were to 

be made by both parents. 

Later that year the mother started taking the child to a 

child psychologist because she believed the child “was 

anxious and confused about the divorce and the visitation 

schedule.”86 During the sessions with the psychologist the 

mother repeatedly indicated that she desired a 

modification in the child custody arrangement, stating that 

she suspected the father of sexually abusing the child. The 

mother went on to offer that the father “had a long history 

of ‘psych’ treatment.”87 After interviewing the little girl, 

the psychologist determined that she was not unduly upset 

by the visitation schedule and that a modification in the 

custody arrangement was not necessary at that time. 

The trial court noted that tensions between the parties 

continued to grow. The court found that in the presence of 

the four-year-old girl, the mother accused the father of 

disrupting her class and making her cry. The mother then 

told him to go to hell, indicated that he was going to get 

AIDS, and informed the child that she would have to be 

decontaminated after her father placed his hat on her head. 

The court went on to note that according to the father, the 

child also heard her mother repeatedly call him “Satan” 

and accuse him of being a homosexual.88 

Soon thereafter, the father filed a petition for a mutual 

restraining order, claiming that his ex-wife had made 

numerous harassing telephone calls to him with regard to 

the modification proceedings and requesting that the 

parties’ communication with each other be restricted to 

visitation issues. The trial court granted the petition for 

the restraining order the next day. 

In early 1996, the father hired a private investigator to 

accompany him as a witness when he exchanged the child 

at the mother’s residence because he believed the mother 

“would attempt to fabricate allegations against him.”89 

After the father and the investigator arrived to pick-up the 

little girl, the mother followed them to a local truck stop 

where the investigator had left his car. The mother then 

proceeded to photograph the investigator and obtain his 

license plate number. Later that evening, said the court, 

she left the following message on the father’s answering 

machine: “You can play this for the Judge because I 

would gladly be in contempt with you. You know what, 

buddy? You’ve got big-time problems. You are 

traumatizing that little girl, and you’re going to court this 

week, and you’ll see what’s going to happen to you. And I 

hope you play this for the father’s attorney and all your 

other goons, because you are in bigtime trouble.”90 

The court found the mother in contempt and ordered 

her to complete eight hours of community service, 

apologize to her ex-husband and pay his attorney’s fees. 

Three months later, the father filed an emergency 

petition for modification of custody and supervised 

visitation. At the hearing, the father presented the tes-

timony of a child psychologist,91 who, after reviewing 

records and reports from Child Protective Services, the 

psychologist, and several other counselors, indicated that 

the mother had not taken appropriate action in resolving a 

sexual incident between the child and the mother’s older 

daughter from a previous relation- ship.92 He also 

indicated that the mother’s comments and allegations 
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against the father were directed at alienating his four-year-

old daughter from the father and that the mother’s 

behavior endangered the child’s emotional and 

psychological development. 

Following the hearing, the trial court entered findings 

of fact and conclusions of law, determining that there had 

been a substantial change in circumstances that justified a 

modification in custody. Specifically, the court 

determined that the mother had engaged in a concerted 

effort to destroy the child’s relationship with the father 

since the divorce. As a result, the court awarded sole 

physical and legal custody of the child to the father. In 

addition, the court denied the mother visitation for a 

period of 60 days, followed by two hours of supervised 

visitation with the child every two weeks for three 

months. Further, the mother was ordered to pay the 

father’s attorney’s fees.93 The mother appealed. 

The appellate court reasoned that the evidence pre-

sented at the modification hearing revealed that im-

mediately after the father and the mother were awarded 

joint custody of the child, numerous disputes arose. 

Specifically, the appellate court noted that the mother 

made repeated allegations of sexual abuse against the 

father, none of which were substantiated. In addition, the 

evidence, as set forth in the trial court’s findings of fact, 

indicated that the mother made numerous disparaging 

comments about, and allegations against, the father in 

front of the child and others, including the comment that 

the child would have to be decontaminated after wearing 

the dad’s hat and that the father had hired a hit man. The 

appellate panel noted that despite the fact that the trial 

court attempted to minimize the hostility by restricting the 

parties’ interaction and communication to visitation 

issues, the animosity escalated to the point that a private 

investigator and the police were involved in simple 

exchanges. 

The appellate panel ruled that: “Based on this evi-

dence, the trial court could have reasonably concluded 

that [the child’s] mental and physical welfare was in 

jeopardy and, as a result, a modification in the joint 

custody arrangement was necessary.”94 

New York Gets It Right - Again 

In J.F. v. L.F.95 Judge Sandra B. Edlitz of the family 

court in Westchester County demonstrates that family 

court judge David F. Jung’s decision in Karen B. v. Clyde 

M.,96 was not a fluke. They can get it right in New York. 

In this case, the mom and dad were divorced in 1993, 

with sole custody of the parties’ two children given to the 

mom. A consent order was entered the following year 

specifying joint custody, with the mother retaining 

primary custody. A visitation schedule was included in the 

1995 order. Three years later, by order to show cause 

against the children’s mother, the father applied for an 

order transferring custody to him. Annexed to the order to 

show cause was an affidavit of the psychiatrist previously 

involved in the case. In his affidavit, he recommended a 

change of custody to the father. Also included in the 

request for a change of custody was an affidavit of the 

father, along with an extensive exhibit. This affidavit and 

exhibit provided a summary of the mother’s interference 

with visitation and examples of ways in which the mother 

allegedly alienated the children from their father during 

the years 1996, 1997 and 1998.97 

The court conducted a continued hearing over the 

course of 15 days. The trial judge conducted in camera 

interviews of both children, and withheld her decision 

until school was out for the summer. 

During the fifteen-day hearing, the mother bitterly 

contested the concept of PAS. The court’s position was 

that: “Generally the New York Courts, in the context of a 

custody/visitation case, rather than discussing the 

acceptability of PAS as a theory, have discussed the issue 

in terms of whether the child has been programmed to 

disfavor the noncustodial parent, thus warranting a change 

in custody.”98 

The trial judge noted that two expert witnesses tes-

tified that the PAS existed in this case. The psychologist 

who evaluated the children and provided a written report 

to the court found that PAS was “clear” and “definite” 

with both children. She quoted a New York criminal case 

and wrote that: “Parental Alienation 

Syndrome occurs when ‘one parent uses his/her influence 

with his/her child to undermine the relationship between 

the child and the other parent. . . . It typically arises when 

the parents are engaged in divorce proceedings or a 

custody dispute.”99 Judge Edlitz explained that she had an 

opportunity to observe the children closely during the 

extensive in camera interviews. She was so taken by the 

children’s behavior, she reported her in camera sessions 

extensively: 

Yet, particularly when discussing their father and his 

family, they present themselves at times in a surreal way 

with a pseudo-maturity which is unnatural and, even, 

strange. They seem like ‘little adults.’ This Court finds 

that they live a somewhat sheltered, cloistered existence 

with their mother, emotionally and socially. They do not 

have friends to their home on a regular basis, and they do 

not go to other children’s homes with any frequency. 

They do not have friends in their mother’s neighborhood. 

The loving way in which the children perceive their 

mother, and the way in which they uncritically describe 

her as being perfect, stands in stark contrast to their 

descriptions of their father. Their opinions about their 

father are unrealistic, misshapen and cruel. They speak 

about and to him in a way which seems, at times, to be 

malicious in its quality. Nothing in the father’s behavior 

warranted that treatment. The psychiatrists testified that 

the children are aligned in an unhealthy manner with the 

mother and her family. This is evidenced not only in the 

testimony of the father but also in the in camera 

interview. They repeatedly refer to the mother’s family as 

‘my family,’ but they do not refer to the father or his 

family that way. Both children used identical language in 

dismissing the happy times they spent with their father as 
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evidenced in the videotape and picture album as ‘Kodak 

moments.’ They deny anything positive in their 

relationship with their father to an unnatural extreme.100 

The judge went on to note that the predictions of the 

mental health evaluators “have unfortunately come true. 

All three of the experts agree that the children have been 

alienated from their father by their mother.”101 She 

summarized that a Board-certified psychiatrist served as 

the independent court psychiatrist in the case in 1994, 

again in 1995, and for the current proceeding. In 1994 and 

1995 he recommended a change in custody to the 

father.102 She continued that a clinical psychologist 

concluded in his reports that the PAS was “clear” and 

“definite” with both children.103 She went on to 

summarize the work of the psychiatrist whose affidavit 

was annexed to the petition to change custody to the 

father.104 The court offered that he had a subspecialty in 

child and adolescent psychiatry, and he submitted a report 

which in part offered: 
As predicted in my lengthy testimony in 1994, the alien-

ation from the father has become more severe, probably 

the most severe case of alienation I have personally wit-

nessed in my 33 years of doing child psychiatry. All of 

the classic signs of Alienation Syndrome are there and 

have been in place at least since 1991. If the children are 

allowed to remain with their mother, their paranoia will 

harden into pathological personality traits as so clearly 

seen in their mother and her extended family. If the chil-

dren are placed in their father’s custody at this time, 

emotional upset and some possible turmoil in the short 

term may occur. This will require competent professional 

intervention.105 

The trial court found that in this case, the subject 

children were alienated from their father by their mother. 

The court opined that the children’s “negative view of 

their father is out of all proportion to reality. . . . The 

children do not want to visit with their father. With the 

passage of time, these children have become ‘staunch 

corroborators’ of their mother’s ill opinion of the father. 

They call their father names, they make fun of his 

personal appearance, they treat him as though he were 

incompetent, and they speak of and treat his wife 

similarly.”106 

Judge Edlitz went on to point out that “after a review 

of all of the evidence, and being in the unique position to 

observe the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses” 

she could not countenance the mother’s behavior or 

influence over the children. She reasoned that, “The father 

has continued to keep fighting to have access to his 

children over the years, despite the clear attempts on the 

part of the mother to undermine his relationship with 

them.”107 

Judge Edlitz’s conclusion was that: 

The animosity that the mother, the physical “custodial” 

parent has long harbored for the father has not lessened 

with time. As predicted by the mental health profession-

als at the inception of these matters, the mother has suc-

ceeded in causing parental alienation of the children from 

their father, such that they wish no longer to have 

frequent and regular visitation or anything much else to 

do with him. Ultimately, with much deliberation, this 

Court has determined that the long-term emotional best 

interests of these children mandate a change of custody to 
the father.108 

From the Sublime in New York to 

the Ridiculous in Ohio 

Just a few months after Judge Edlitz’ detailed work in 

In the Matter ofJ.F. v. L.Ffor the Westchester County 

family court, the folks in Dayton, Ohio demonstrated that 

they may never get it right. Pathan v. Pathan109 illustrates 

classic PAS behaviors by an American woman against her 

Pakistani husband and child. The court-appointed 

psychologist committed numerous egregious errors, in this 

author’s opinion, and the trial judge did not do a good job. 

True to form, the appellate court lathered on the 

boilerplate, and did little else. 

In this case, Dr. Pathan, a native of Pakistan, and his 

wife were married in Dayton, Ohio on November 2, 1985. 

During the marriage, the parties resided in California. One 

child, “S,” was born to the parties in 1989. The couple 

obtained dissolution of their marriage in Los Angeles, 

California in 1993. During the separation, the wife 

returned to Dayton, Ohio, with “S,” where she was 

employed as a music teacher.110 

In 1993, Dr. Pathan entered into an arranged marriage 

to his first cousin, a native of Pakistan. She came to the 

United States in 1994, after the marriage. Problems began 

when, in mid-1994, the ex-wife learned of Dr. Pathan’s 

marriage to his cousin. The problems were serious enough 

to necessitate court intervention for compliance with the 

visitation schedule because the ex-wife began interfering 

in Dr. Pathan’s phone conversations with his young 

daughter. 

At the hearings on Dr. Pathan’s attempts to change 

custody, the ex-wife tried to show that the child was 

frightened by her father. She produced a videotape taken 

at her home showing the little girl lying on the ground in a 

state of distress, pleading not to attend visitation with Dr. 

Pathan. However, another video was admitted into 

evidence. This depicted the visitation exchange just hours 

later, showing the child hugging Dr. Pathan and happily 

getting into his car for the visit.111 

According to the appellate court, there was evidence 

in the record indicating that the mother actively tried to 

cause the little girl to think less of her father. She told the 

child that Dr. Pathan was not present at her birth and also 

told her that Dr. Pathan had had a preference for a son.112 

The record also reveals that knowing that Dr. Pathan 

was a devout Muslim; the mother enrolled the girl in a 

Christian academy. At the school, the mother completed 

the information form and placed a large “N/A” in the 
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location for information about the child’s father. In the 

blank that requested information as to with whom the 

child resided, she placed the words “Mother only” and 

underlined “only” three times. She also failed to provide 

any other information about Dr. Pathan on the form. The 

magistrate and the trial court also noted that the mother 

subjected the child to unnecessary drug testing at a 

children’s medical center both before and after a weekend 

visit with Dr. Pathan.113 

The magistrate and the trial court found that the 

mother’s sister showed the child a movie called “Not 

Without My Daughter” (1991). According to the appellate 

court: 
The movie is a true story of an American woman married 

to a physician who was Iranian, but who practiced in 

Michigan. The characters in the story have one child, a 

young daughter. The physician asks the wife to accom-

pany him to Iran for a family vacation, and while there, it 

becomes clear to the wife that he intends to remain there. 

In the film, the father beats and imprisons the mother. 

The film graphically depicts the cultural differences 

between Iran and the United States, particularly in the 

differences in the treatment of women and children. The 

general feeling from the movie is hatred and great 
trepidation toward the culture and the physician.114 

The appellate court went on to opine: “The story is 

remarkably similar to [the child’s] situation with her 

physician father from a similar national origin, and a 

mother and child with whom [the child] could identify.”115 

The court-appointed psychologist had demonstrated 

significant bias in her work with Dr. Pathan. First, she 

used standardized testing measures wholly inappropriate 

for Pakistanis.116 She merely stated that she “took his 

ethnicity into account.”117 Next, she determined that Dr. 

Pathan was depressed and had a “paranoid predisposition” 

and based these diagnoses on Dr. Pathan’s beliefs that his 

ex-wife had interfered with his telephone contact with his 

daughter, was on a “rage of vindictiveness” to block 

visitation, and had enrolled the child in a Christian school 

to spite him.118 Finally, she required Dr. Pathan to 

participate in an unethical, dual relationship. With the trial 

court’s blessing, the psychologist conducted a course of 

“family counseling sessions.” These were serious 

breaches of professional ethics in this author’s opinion.119 

Dr. Pathan asked for an independent evaluation and 

named a local psychologist. On the suggestion of his ex-

wife’s counsel, Dr. Richard Gardner was appointed for the 

limited purpose of determining if the child suffered from 

PAS. Although he did not render an opinion as to custody, 

Dr. Gardner found that the ex-wife had induced a 

moderate amount of alienation in the parties’ daughter, 

based upon her course of conduct in discouraging all 

forms of contact with Dr. Pathan. Gardner cited her 

exclusion of Dr. Pathan from the child’s school 

enrollment forms and attempts to gather negative 

information about Dr. Pathan. In addition, Dr. Gardner 

stated in his report that he believed that the mother was a 

“child abuser.” 

The hearing officer noted that evidence existed that 

the mother had participated in psychologically abusing the 

little girl. This magistrate also noted that she had engaged 

in conduct involving psychological abuse and active 

interference with visitation and telephone contact. 

Nevertheless, the magistrate felt that it would be too 

traumatic to relocate the child. 

Everyone objected and the case went to the trial court. 

The trial judge opined that the mother had been the 

primary offender in continuously and willfully denying 

and impeding Dr. Pathan’s visitation with the child since 

Dr. Pathan’s remarriage. The trial court found that the 

mother had unreasonably limited telephone visitation and 

had generally discouraged Dr. Pathan’s relationship with 

his daughter. The trial court noted that even the girl’s 

first-grade teacher was aware that the mother did not want 

the child visiting with Dr. Pathan. According to the 

reviewing court, the record is abundant with evidence of 

Merry discouraging and interfering with Dr. Pathan’s 

visitation, both in person and by telephone. As the trial 

court noted, the problems ranged from intentionally 

leaving home when Dr. Pathan called during scheduled 

hours to not placing the little girl on the telephone and 

offering him a weak excuse for her not speaking, to the 

ex-wife hanging up on Dr. Pathan when he did call. 

With five full years of this history, the Ohio court 

merely opined that if the mother did not mend her ways, 

“it might, in the future, be in [the child’s] best interest for 

the court to grant the father’s request for a change in 

custody.”120 The reviewing court provided six pages of 

boilerplate and little else. 

Ample Evidence of PAS in Michigan 

In the Matter of Spencley v. Spencley121 found the 

Michigan appeals court dealing with the complaints of 

two parents against the state for its abuse and neglect 

determination. The family came to the attention of the 

court when the wife made several unsubstantiated al-

legations of child sexual abuse against the husband. The 

Michigan version of the Department of Social Ser- 

vices122 came to the family court during the divorce 

proceedings and asserted that the three children were 

being emotionally abused by the parents. The court took 

evidence and found that the mother’s latest complaint of 

child sexual abuse was unfounded but that the manner in 

which the couple handled their divorce and the parenting 

of the children amounted to abuse. 

One of the psychologists who had worked with the 

family members testified at trial that the parents’ behavior 

amounted to PAS. This psychologist testified that 

evidence showed that the mother was, during the course 

of the divorce, attempting to alienate the children from 

their father. On appeal, the mother challenged the concept 

of PAS, but the appellate court ruled that ample evidence 

of emotional injury to the children existed, and the 
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psychologist merely used the concept of PAS as an 

explanatory tool: “The family court’s factual findings are 

amply supported by the evidence presented at trial and, 

indeed, there was overwhelming evidence that the 

children were suffering from ‘severe emotional 

problems.’”123 

Debbie Does It in Arkansas 

In Chambers v. Chambers,1,24 the chancery court in 

Bradley County, Arkansas was faced with a completely 

successful campaign of parental alienation. Indeed, the 

record reveals that the mother’s campaign spanned many 

years and totally destroyed the father’s relationship with 

his children. 

The parties were married in 1984. They had five 

children. During their divorce process in 1994, the 

father’s difficulties with visitation caused the chancery 

court to appoint a psychiatrist to provide family therapy. 

The psychiatrist eventually concluded that the relationship 

between the appellant and his children had deteriorated to 

such an extent that visitation with the minor children 

posed the risk of emotional harm.125 The father was so 

incensed at the psychiatrist’s efforts, he filed suit against 

him for malpractice, and he withdrew. 

The chancery court appointed another doctor in 1995, 

but it took until early 1996 to get the family members to 

participate in treatment. Two years after the process of 

court-ordered family treatment began, the doctor issued a 

report which inter alia noted that the process of alienation 

had been so successful, he was “concerned about the 

children’s emotional state” and “recommending the court 

not force the minor children to visit” their father.126 The 

chancery judge then denied the father’s request for 

immediate required visitation and recused himself.127 

A new chancery judge was assigned, and the father 

finally got a hearing two years later.128 At the hearing, he 

relied on the expertise of an adolescent and child 

psychiatrist, in arguing that a material change of cir-

cumstances had occurred. Based upon his review of the 

medical records, court filings, and deposition transcripts 

and videotapes in this case, this psychiatrist testified that 

PAS was so severe that the children were “hopelessly 

estranged from him.”129 Indeed, he described the mother’s 

efforts at PAS as so successful that “ alienation was so 

complete that therapy would have no chance, under those 

circumstances.” 

In many ways, this psychiatrist agreed with the court-

appointed therapist that the prospects for the mother’s 

help in visitation were “hopeless.” The appellate court put 

a good deal of stock in these opinions and quoted his 

testimony extensively: 
I don’t think therapy would do anything, other than fur-

ther prolong the agony. The court would have to be will-

ing to order visitation with the expressed intent that if 

visitation is interfered with in any way it would have to 

consider seriously reversing the custody of [the youngest 

child] which would no doubt cause a lot of wailing and 

gnashing of teeth. I’m just suggesting that if visitation is 

awarded, I would suggest as an expert, that the court 

would have to anticipate that that is going to be interfered 

with. This child is going to protest. There will be no 

support of it. It will put her in a bind.130 

In the face of the severe (and successful) parental 

alienation, the psychiatrist went on to testify: “I’m rec-

ommending visitation with the understanding that the 

court should be able to enforce it if there is any disruption 

or anyone trying to disrupt with that visitation. The child 

is going to refuse to go for visitation. That would be my 

guess. I feel that the court should force the visitation. It is 

kinda like after children get their first shot they don’t want 

to go get a second one but you have to force them.”131 

Relying on the total success of her campaign of 

parental alienation, the mother moved for a directed 

verdict - to deny her ex-husband’s motion for forced 

reintegration with his children. 

The chancery judge explained inter alia: “I don’t 

know y’all. . . . All . . . I know . . . there’s been a war 

between the two of you for years. . . . But we’ve got to 

deal with what the situation is today. [The psychiatrist] . . 

. I believe . . . quoting [the court-appointed therapist] . . . 

said ‘The relationship is over. It’s gone, and I agree.’ So 

that’s the situation I’m dealing with today.”132 

Whereupon, the judge granted the mother’s request for 

a directed verdict and ordered that the father had to keep 

sending her money. 

Fortunately, the Arkansas appellate court did not 

follow the state of Ohio’s habit of pasting in page after 

page of boilerplate. The appellate panel merely reasoned 

that because the mother had been at it for so long, “what 

the record abundantly shows [is what] has become an 

extremely hostile and unfortunate family situation 

resulting in a relationship that even [the psychiatrist] 

deemed ‘hopeless.” Therefore, reasoned the appellate 

panel, the father failed to show the statutory requisite 

“change of circumstances” warranting the court’s 

intervention.133 

Indiana Gets It Wrong - Then 

Right - Then Wrong 

Just as chancery Judges Jerry Mazzanti and Robert 

Garrett of Arkansas participated in the Chambers v. 

Chambers134 mess for five years, Lake County, Indiana 

SpecialJudge Mary Beth Bonaventura participated in a 

five-year battle for the daughter involved in Kirk v. Kirk. 

Unlike Arkansas or Ohio, the Court of Appeals in Indiana 

put a stop to it.135 Unfortunately, it appears, behind the 

scenes machinations found the Indiana Supreme Court 

intervening with what seems a disregard for the record.136 

The child was six years old when the mother began 

making spurious child sexual abuse claims. The little girl 

was twelve years old when Special Judge Bona- ventura 

made a final decision.137 During the intervening six years, 

the record reflects that the couple’s marriage was 

dissolved in 1992. The mother was awarded legal and 
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physical custody of their daughter, who was born in 1989. 

At first, the father exercised unsupervised visitation with 

the child every other weekend. Until mid-1995, he 

continued visitation in this fashion. In September 1995, 

the mother accused him of sexually molesting the child 

and refused to allow further visitation.138 

Over the next five years, the trial court appointed 

expert after expert but consistently failed to make a final 

decision. The court appointed a total of seven experts and 

two GALs, received two more petitions from the father, 

and held the mother in contempt three times (with little or 

no real penalties). All experts and GALs who filed reports 

with the court expressed concern over the mother’s and 

the child’s mental health and recommended that the court 

consider a change in custody because the mother would 

not cooperate with attempts at reunification. It is 

important to note that none of the experts felt that there 

was any credible evidence that the alleged molestation 

had actually taken place. No criminal charges were ever 

filed. Finally, in 2001, the court ruled on all issues, 

denying the father’s petition for change of custody and 

ordering more family counseling. The father appealed.139 

The appellate panel noted that in November 1996, a 

clinical psychologist recommended that the court order 

professionally directed reunification efforts and that if 

such reunification could not reasonably occur within four 

months, “an alternate residential setting that would 

promote [the child’s] health... be considered.”140 This 

recommendation was seconded one month later in a report 

by the GAL, who stated that reunification efforts utilizing 

professional guidance by a qualified therapist should 

commence immediately and that if reunification “cannot 

reasonably occur within four months, an alternate 

residential setting for [the child] shall be determined by 

the court to promote [the child’s] health.”141 Four months 

later, the GAL reported that there had been no progress 

since her earlier report. 

She opined that the child’s belief in the allegations of 

molestation was directly related and substantially caused 

by the pathology between the mother and the child. In 

July 1997, the GAL filed an additional report with the 

court. She noted the emotional distancing between the 

child and the father, stating, “Every indication suggests 

that the mother has continuously and persuasively 

supported and orchestrated this distancing. . . . The mother 

has systematically refused to cooperate with a therapeutic 

reuniting of child with father.”142 She again recommended 

that the court oversee the therapeutic reunification of the 

father and the child. 

Six months later, a clinical psychologist reported to 

the court that reunification 
between [the father] and [the child] will be extremely 

difficult due to the dysfunctional, highly symbiotic, 

codependency which exists between [the mother and the 

child] . . . [Mother’s] noninclusion of [father] and total 

desire for her daughter to deny and disown her father’s 

existence and presence in her life is extremely 

emotionally unhealthy. It is my opinion that this 

psychopathology relates to [mother’s] dysfunctional 

nature with respect to wanting to maintain almost total 

control of her daughter’s life.143 

The psychologist recommended therapeutic reuni-

fication efforts and “that serious consideration be given to 

removing [the child] to a neutral residential placement 

which would allow her the opportunity to develop her 

sense of identity, autonomy, and to effect a more positive 

relationship with her father.”144 

In April 1998, he diagnosed the child with PAS and 

again recommended “that the court consider removing 

[the child] to a more neutral setting so that she can have 

the opportunity to form her own, independent views of her 

father without any potential interference or alienation.”145 

In July 1998, another clinical psychologist submitted 

his report to the court. He noted that “[d]ata generated in 

this evaluation is strikingly similar to the previous 

professional reports” and that: “[t]he recommendations 

offered by [an earlier psychologist] in her report are 

extremely accurate, concise and should be given the 

strongest consideration.” As to the mother, he wrote: “she 

should not be allowed to continue in the role of custodial 

parent.”146 Concerning the mother’s participation in any 

reunification plan, he went on to write about mother’s 

refusal to cooperate in reunification sessions and advised 

that “[i]f this lack of cooperation is substantiated, it. . . 

indicates a strong need for judicial intervention as soon as 

possible to resolve this impasse. I believe that continued 

obstruction of the healing process by any of the parties 

involved is detrimental to the well-being of the minor 

child in this case, and must be dealt with directly.”147 

In March 1998, an ACSW/LCSW, appointed by the 

court to begin therapeutic reunification sessions, reported 

the mother’s total lack of cooperation. She summarized 

the previous professional evaluations and 

recommendations and noted her agreement with the 

expressed concerns, beginning with the original psy-

chologist’s fears first expressed in 1996 regarding the 

welfare of the child. She advised the court: 

The help that each of us; [psychologists, GAL] the court 

and I attempted to provide this little girl, [the child], has 

long been thwarted by [mother]. ... I respectfully submit 

to this court that too many years have passed without this 

child getting the limits and boundaries set to protect her. 

... I believe the time has come to place [the child] in a 

residential environment away from her mother’s full-time 

influence. [The child] is a victim in a severe case of 

parental alienation syndrome. . . . This is, indeed, a 

drastic level of intervention, however, this situation has 

become in need of drastic solutions or history will repeat 

itself.148 

A few days following this report, one of the psy-

chologists, appointed by the court as the therapy co-

ordinator, advised the court of the mother’s failure to 

cooperate, supported the recommendations, and stated: 

“[G]iven the history of this case and data available to me, 

I expect that [mother’s] efforts to sabotage reunification 
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will exceed her cooperation, continuing a destructive 

influence on [the child’s] psychological wellbeing and 

development.”149 In August 1998, the same person 

reported that he still was not receiving cooperation from 

the mother and “that an intervention by the court will be 

necessary.”150 

In August 1999, the social worker informed the court 

that “[w]e appear to be at a crisis point in efforts toward 

reunification” and that neither the child “[n]or her mother 

understand the seriousness of the process.”151 She 

recommended that the mother be found in contempt 

unless she took immediate steps to bring herself into 

compliance. A few weeks later the social worker made her 

final report to the court, recommending that the child be 

removed from the mother’s home and stating that the 

mother “has proved once again that she will not 

change.”152 She also noted that there was evidence that the 

child had told many of her classmates and teachers that 

her father had sexually molested her.153 

In October 1999, a different social worker wrote to the 

court, “I feel I underestimated the dangerousness and level 

of pathology of [mother]. I feel she is extremely 

destructive. She will go to great lengths to sabotage 

reunification efforts between [the child] and [father].”154 

She insisted that she had to withdraw from the case 

because, as she put it: “I cannot submit myself to false 

allegations of abuse and place my license and reputation 

on the line. I feel [mother] will continue to fabricate false 

accusations against anyone who is attempting to aide [sic] 

in the reunification process.”155 

One year later, yet another court-appointed custody 

evaluator recommended that legal custody of the child be 

given to the father. He also recommended that the father 

move to the child’s neighborhood and that he assume 

physical custody. In the face of this overwhelming 

evidence, Special Judge Bonaventura denied the father’s 

petition to modify custody.156 

The Court of Appeals did what needed to be done. 

The panel concluded unanimously that: “The trial court 

abused its discretion in allowing Mother to retain legal 

and physical custody of the child despite overwhelming 

evidence that their relationship was harmful to the child’s 

mental health.”157 Their reasoning was simple: “The 

voluminous evidence leads unerringly to but one 

conclusion: that there has been a substantial negative 

change in the child’s mental health since the last custody 

determination and that a change of custody is not only in 

her best interests but also is imperative and long 

overdue.”158 The appellate court reversed, with an 

immediate remand for a change of custody. The truly 

unfortunate part of this case involves the action taken by 

the Indiana Supreme Court in June 2002.159 In their 

review, the Court actually commended the judge. It seems 

the members of the Supreme Court had no appreciation 

whatsoever for her multiyear indecision. Unfortunately, 

the current members of the Indiana Supreme Court did not 

pay adequate attention to what the appellate panel clearly 

saw as the child’s deepening pathology during the process 

of indecision. Indeed, if the judge had been a behavioral 

scientist, a board of review may very well have described 

the deepening pathology in the child as iatrogenic. Had 

the judge been a behavioral scientist, she very well may 

have been sued for incompetence and subjected to 

licensure revocation. It would be difficult to envision a 

judicial officer less able to grasp what the numerous 

competent behavioral sciences professionals were telling 

her. 

While the problems for the family worsened as the 

judge watched the child’s pathology deepen, the action of 

the Indiana Supreme Court in lowering the standard to 

that of Ohio and its rubber-stamp appellate processes will 

likely harm many more children and families. In their rush 

to overturn what the appellate panel worked so hard to 

explain, the current members of Indiana’s Supreme Court 

underscored the importance of new research describing 

most judicial officers as inadequate regarding 

understanding science in general and the behavioral 

sciences in particular.160 For in their brief published 

opinion, the current members of the Indiana Supreme 

Court completely neglected the spurious nature of the 

original claim of sexual abuse and the reports and 

testimony of seven competent behavioral sciences 

professionals, and characterized the five-year trauma as 

simply “a situation that centers on the personalities of two 

parents battling for control of a child.”161 What’s more, the 

current members of Indiana’s highest court described the 

child as now thoroughly believing the spurious claims of 

sexual assault162 but were unable to connect the dots 

concerning the development of a false memory. And this 

despite seven experts doing everything they could to make 

that clear. 

CONCLUSION 

Certainly other PAS cases can be found in fifteen 

years of American jurisprudence. Several more boilerplate 

redundancies and interesting criminal cases exist. 

However, these cases provide a representative sample of 

the court’s developing approach to PAS. One more bears 

mention. On January 17, 2002 after a hearing, the trial 

court in DuPage County, Illinois, ruled: “The Parental 

Alienation Syndrome is generally accepted in the mental 

health community and has met the requirements of the 

Frye test.”163
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